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[bookmark: _Toc214635472]Disclaimer
The following answers are based on California Energy Commission (CEC) staff’s interpretation of the questions received regarding GFO-25-901 California Training for Residential Energy Contractors (CA-TREC). Some questions have been edited for clarity or combined with other similar questions. Questions and answers are grouped by topic. 
[bookmark: _Toc214635473]Workshop Materials
The workshop presentation and recording are posted on the CEC workshop calendar webpage at https://www.energy.ca.gov/event/funding-workshop/2025-11/pre-application-workshop-gfo-25-901-california-training-residential.
[bookmark: _Toc214635474]Solicitation Documents
All documents relating to GFO-25-901 CA-TREC are posted on the CEC solicitation webpage at https://www.energy.ca.gov/solicitations/2025-11/gfo-25-901-california-training-residential-energy-contractors-ca-trec.

[bookmark: _Toc214635475]Pre-Bid Questions and Answers
Program Administration and Application Submission
1. [bookmark: _Toc214621118][bookmark: _Toc214635332][bookmark: _Toc214635476]Can the CEC adjust award amounts?
A: Yes. The CEC reserves the right to negotiate with successful applicants to modify the level of funding.  
2. [bookmark: _Toc214621119][bookmark: _Toc214635333][bookmark: _Toc214635477]Are Joint Apprenticeship and Training Committees (JATCs) and labor unions eligible to apply for grants?
A: Yes, so long as those entities are eligible entities as listed in solicitation manual Section II.A Applicant Requirements.
3. [bookmark: _Toc214621120][bookmark: _Toc214635334][bookmark: _Toc214635478]Are programs required to be in California?
A: Yes. Projects must be located in California, i.e., they must serve California workers and expand and strengthen existing programs located in California.
4. [bookmark: _Toc214621121][bookmark: _Toc214635335][bookmark: _Toc214635479]Can applicants apply for multiple groups? If so, can an applicant be awarded grants in more than one category?
A: Yes. Organizations may apply to multiple project groups but must submit a separate application for each group. Applicants submitting multiple applications should ensure they have sufficient capacity to fully implement all proposed projects. The CEC may award more than one grant to the same organization.
5. [bookmark: _Toc214621122][bookmark: _Toc214635336][bookmark: _Toc214635480]Is federal funding stable? Is there a chance it will be taken away?
A: CEC cannot comment on federal funding stability. Grant funds’ availability is contingent upon Department of Energy (DOE) funding and federal directives. If any of the federal funds for CA-TREC become unavailable, reduced, or deleted for any reason the CEC may cancel the agreement or offer an agreement amendment to the recipient. Note also that ability to access full funds, even if available, is contingent on DOE’s approval of CEC’s Preliminary Evaluation Report to DOE. More information is included in Attachment 12 CA-TREC Terms and Conditions.
6. [bookmark: _Toc214621123][bookmark: _Toc214635337][bookmark: _Toc214635481]Is a Commitment Letter necessary if the applicant has unrestricted funds that can be used to cover admin and cost of doing business expenses?
A: Yes. Applicants must submit a match funding commitment letter from each entity that is committing to providing match funding (including the Applicant and third parties). Please see solicitation manual Section III.D.8 Commitment and Support Letter Form (Attachment 8) for further detailed requirements for commitment letters. 
7. [bookmark: _Toc214621124][bookmark: _Toc214635338][bookmark: _Toc214635482]If an applicant has not held direct contracts with the CEC but has served as a subcontractor to a direct contractor, is the Reference and Work Product Form required?
A: Yes. The Reference and Work Product Form asks for information about the applicant and its major subrecipients’ past agreements with the CEC and other entities. Any experience, of either the prime applicant or its subrecipients, working with the CEC or other entity as a prime applicant or subrecipient, should be detailed in the Reference and Work Product Form. The Reference and Work Product Form should be provided by all applicants, whether or not they have held direct contracts with the CEC. It also documents prior relevant experience and work performance to help the CEC evaluate the applicant’s capacity to successfully implement the proposed project. 
8. If an applicant has a new training program that has been operating for less than one year, is there an alternative pathway to demonstrate capability and capacity to successfully execute the scope of work?
A: To apply, CA-TREC does not require the training program to have operated for a minimum amount of time. However, the project team (prime and any subcontractors or partners) should collectively demonstrate at least one year of experience delivering residential contractor training, consistent with the solicitation manual Scoring Criterion 1.e Team Qualifications, Capabilities, and Resources. Failure to show this experience may result in a lower score. Note there are other factors specified under Scoring Criterion 1 Team Qualifications, Capabilities, and Resources. 
9. [bookmark: _Toc214635339][bookmark: _Toc214635483]For Group 3 New and Expanding Contractor Training, will there be a scoring distinction between a new program and an expanding program?
A: New and expanding programs will be evaluated using the same scoring criteria. 

[bookmark: _Toc214635484]Group Definitions and Program Design
[bookmark: _Toc214621126][bookmark: _Toc214635341][bookmark: _Toc214635485]10. 	Can we expand upon an existing and established training program? For example, can we add an electrification component to a pre-apprenticeship/apprenticeship program?
A: Yes, expansion of an existing program is allowed. Activities may include, for example:
· Expanding program size or capacity
· Enhancing existing curriculum
· Adding new electrification or energy-efficiency content
For Group 1 Pre-Apprenticeship and Apprenticeship applicants should list all training credentials and certifications that are currently offered or will be provided within the next 12 months that align with the DOE’s Energy Skilled Recognition Program categories. This helps demonstrate how the expanded or enhanced curriculum aligns with DOE-recognized skills for electrification and home energy efficiency.
Learn more about DOE’s Energy Skilled Recognition Program at https://bsesc.energy.gov/recognition.
11. [bookmark: _Toc214621127][bookmark: _Toc214635342][bookmark: _Toc214635486]Can on-the-job training count toward training?
A: Work-based learning and on-the-job training are allowable per the solicitation manual Section I.E Funding, Participant Supportive Services. 
Subsidizing normal business operations or employee productivity is not eligible. 
12. [bookmark: _Toc214635343][bookmark: _Toc214635487]Can the applicant partner with a subcontractor?
A: Yes. 
13. [bookmark: _Toc214635344][bookmark: _Toc214635488]Must an applicant’s identified community meet the definition of “rural community” or “energy community” to qualify for a CA-TREC grant?
A: No, locating a program in a rural or energy community is not a project requirement. However, this factor is included in the solicitation manual scoring section. Under the scoring criteria 2.a Community Focus, an applicant for any group may gain points if “an existing program is located in a rural or energy community; or is partnered with at least one other existing program in one of these communities; or has an existing program which partners with a California Native American Tribe or California Tribal Organization.” Definitions for “rural community” and “energy community” are in the solicitation manual Section I.C Definitions of Key Words. 
The Community Focus scoring criteria section has four elements and totals 10 points. If an applicant does not meet the criteria of 2.a, they may still apply but may not score the full points for the section. 
[bookmark: _Toc214635490]
Allowable and Unallowable Costs
14. [bookmark: _Toc214621129][bookmark: _Toc214635347][bookmark: _Toc214635491]What is the definition of “administrative costs”?
A: Match funding for this grant is required to cover 100% of administrative funds, therefore they are not an allowable cost.
Administrative costs are all costs necessary for the effective administration of the program. Generally, administrative costs include those related to planning, administration, and technical assistance of the CA-TREC program. This could include, but is not limited to, the following types of activities:
· Program planning and design
· Development of tools and systems, including websites, applications, contractor-training program processing, and reporting
· Program evaluation and consumer satisfaction surveys
· Program monitoring and audits
· General marketing, education, and outreach that is meant to build brand awareness or general interest or to solely promote the grant recipient
· Implementation contract costs not including training costs and costs for activities directly related to delivery of contractor training programs
· Technical assistance
Administrative requirements are outlined in the State-Based Home Energy Efficiency Contractor Training Competitive Grant Program Funding Opportunity Announcement (FOA) at https://infrastructure-exchange.energy.gov/Default.aspx?Search=inflation%20reduction%20act#FoaId4f03295b-9ff6-42d2-b3f0-5c1f2ae1d189.
15. [bookmark: _Toc214621130][bookmark: _Toc214635348][bookmark: _Toc214635492]Are outreach and education allowable costs?
A: Certain outreach and education costs that directly support training delivery, participant recruitment, or enrollment, and which align with the goals of the project group are allowable. General marketing, education, and outreach would be considered administrative costs (see Answer 14 above). Examples of allowable outreach costs by group include:
· Group 1 Pre-Apprenticeship and Apprenticeship – promoting scholarships, stipends, exam preparation courses, retraining opportunities coursework, educator training, language-appropriate coaching, pre-apprenticeships and/or paid training, and expanded remote instruction
· Group 2 Workforce Enablement – communicating availability of stipends for childcare, dependent care, transportation, and tools
· Group 3 New and Expanding Contractor Training – Recruiting new workers/contractors
16. [bookmark: _Toc214621131][bookmark: _Toc214635349][bookmark: _Toc214635493]Is equipment an allowable cost? 
A: Equipment may be an allowable cost. Equipment is defined as tangible personal property (including information technology systems) having a useful life of more than one year and a per-unit acquisition cost that equals or exceeds the lesser of the capitalization level established by the recipient or subrecipient for financial statement purposes, or $10,000. 
Equipment is subject to federal requirements when purchased with CA-TREC funds. For more information and title, allowable use, and disposition rules, see Attachment 12 CA-TREC Terms and Conditions Section 12, Attachment 13 Federal Award Terms and Conditions, 2 CFR Part 200.313 at https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR8feb98c2e3e5ad2/section-200.313.
17. [bookmark: _Toc214621132][bookmark: _Toc214635350][bookmark: _Toc214635494]Are stipends (gas, tools, etc.) an allowable cost?
A: Yes, stipends are allowed to deliver participant supportive services. They must directly support the objective of the specific group. 
18. [bookmark: _Toc214635345][bookmark: _Toc214635489][bookmark: _Toc214621133][bookmark: _Toc214635351][bookmark: _Toc214635495]Are there restrictions on the type of recruitment stipends that can be classified under either the “incentive payments” or the “needs-based payments” categories as part of the total grant funding?
A: There are three types of financial mechanisms to deliver payments directly to participants:
· Wages or stipends (should be reflective of current competitive wage)
· Incentive payments (limited to 1.5 percent of the total grant award) 
· Needs-based payments/emergency cash assistance: food/utilities (limited to 10 percent of the total grant award)
Stipends may be used as wages or wage-like compensation to participants when they are tied to time spent in training, work-based learning, or other project-related activities. In these cases, the stipend is treated similarly to pay for hours of participation – not an incentive or needs-based payment. When paying participant stipends, grantees must be able to explain to the CAM, and document, how they determine the amount of the stipend and distribution and why it is reasonable.
Incentive payments may only be used to reward participant recognitions or achievement tied to training activities or work experiences. They must be connected to a specific milestone, accomplishment, or demonstrated engagement in training. Incentives cannot address personal financial needs. Incentive payments must align with the goals of the grant and should be reasonable and proportional to the value received. The grantee must be able to explain to the CAM, and document, how they determine the amount of the stipend and distribution and why it is reasonable.
A needs-based payment or emergency cash assistance is allowed to address a documented immediate need that would prevent participation, is paid directly to the participant, and the participant is enrolled in training. This may include, but is not limited to, food, utility bills, or other immediate needs. 
In the application project narrative, applicants should include which financial mechanism will be used. The project narrative should explain how payments will be made; why they are reasonable; and the benefits to the applicant(s) and state. Processes for determining and distributing any of the financial mechanisms to participants must be reviewed and approved by the CAM prior to implementation and release of funds to participants.
All recruitment stipends must be allowable, necessary, included in the approved budget, and compliant with federal cost principals in 2 CFR Part 200 at https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200 and 20 CFR 680.930 at https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-20/chapter-V/part-680/subpart-G/section-680.930.
These financial mechanisms to deliver payments are defined in the State-Based Home Energy Efficiency Contractor Training Competitive Grant Program Funding Opportunity Announcement (FOA) at https://infrastructure-exchange.energy.gov/Default.aspx?Search=inflation%20reduction%20act#FoaId4f03295b-9ff6-42d2-b3f0-5c1f2ae1d189.
19. Are instructor salaries an allowable cost?
A: Yes, if the instructor’s salary is directly tied to program training. Personnel costs necessary for the execution of the project are allowable when they are reasonable, allocable, and adequately documented, consistent with applicable federal cost principles. Allowable personnel costs may include salaries and wages for instructors, trainers, and other staff directly engaged in the delivery of CA-TREC training, work-based learning, or on-the-job training activities, as well as associated fringe benefits.
20. [bookmark: _Toc214621134][bookmark: _Toc214635352][bookmark: _Toc214635496]Are contractor business startup subsidies an allowable cost?
A: No. Contractor business startup subsidies are not allowed with grant funds and can include the following:
· Prime or subcontractor staffing associated with business startup
· Employee training 
· Business licenses
· Insurance and bonding
· Business or operational expenses
· Administrative costs
· Covering contractor payroll, subcontractor labor, rent, utilities, or business software associated with business startup
Funding must support participant training, workforce enablement, or contractor development. 
21. [bookmark: _Toc214621135][bookmark: _Toc214635353][bookmark: _Toc214635497]Are customer rebates an allowable cost?
A: No. 
22. [bookmark: _Toc214621136][bookmark: _Toc214635354][bookmark: _Toc214635498]Are business costs (insurance and bonding) an allowable cost?
A: No. Funding must support training, workforce enablement, or contractor development. 
23. [bookmark: _Toc214621137][bookmark: _Toc214635355][bookmark: _Toc214635499]Are subsidizing costs for skilled HVAC technicians to become new contractors allowable costs? 
A: Yes, but only the components that support training, workforce enablement, or contractor development. Funding cannot cover business formation costs, such as bonding, insurance, business licenses, contractor startup expenses, or tools used for business operations.
24. [bookmark: _Toc214635356][bookmark: _Toc214635500]If an applicant purchases a mobile training center (or other single piece of equipment exceeding the threshold) using CEC funds, are there specific requirements for that equipment?
A: Yes. Equipment with a unit cost of $10,000 or greater is subject to federal requirements when purchased with CA-TREC funds. These requirements are found in Attachment 13 Federal Award Terms and Conditions, and include title, allowable use, and disposition rules. 
25. If the mobile training center is a multi-modal digitized and accessible training center that has a web and in-person based location, will that be applicable?
A: Yes. Mobile, hybrid, and multi-modal training centers may qualify as an allowable expense:
· It is used to deliver contractor training tied to residential energy efficiency and/or electrification; and
· The cost is tied to program delivery; and
· It increases access for communities with limited access to services.
[bookmark: _Toc214635501]
Certifications
26. [bookmark: _Toc214621139][bookmark: _Toc214635358][bookmark: _Toc214635502]Does Group 1 Pre-Apprenticeship and Apprenticeship require certification or does training without certification qualify?
A: A project in Group 1 Pre-Apprenticeship and Apprenticeship is not required to provide participants with certification if the training supports the objective of the specific group. 
In their application, applicants are not required to include all items listed in the solicitation manual Section II.B Project Requirements, Project Groups, 1. Pre-Apprenticeship and Apprenticeship. Applicants may choose any combination of allowable activities that best align with their project and the communities they serve. 
27. [bookmark: _Toc214621140][bookmark: _Toc214635359][bookmark: _Toc214635503]Are Green Building Constructions Skills eligible?
A: The CEC cannot determine project eligibility without knowing all the details of the proposed project. In general, if the proposed project meets the requirements in the solicitation manual including that the curriculum is tied to residential energy efficiency and/or electrification and meets the requirements of the solicitation, it may be eligible for funding under this program.
28. [bookmark: _Toc214621141][bookmark: _Toc214635360][bookmark: _Toc214635504]Is HERS Rater Certification (soon to be ECC Rater certification) eligible for CA-TREC grant funding?
A: The CEC cannot determine project eligibility without knowing all the details of the proposed project. In general, if the proposed project meets the requirements in the solicitation manual including that the curriculum is tied to residential energy efficiency and/or electrification and meets the requirements of the solicitation, it may be eligible for funding under this program. 
HERS Rater certification is recognized by the DOE’s Energy Skilled Recognition Program under the Energy Skilled Energy Assessment Programs category. Learn more about DOE’s Energy Skilled Recognition Program at https://bsesc.energy.gov/recognition.
29. [bookmark: _Toc214621142][bookmark: _Toc214635361][bookmark: _Toc214635505]Does our current program have to meet the criteria to be recognized as Energy Skilled?
A: Programs do not need formal Energy Skilled recognition to apply. Applicants must simply demonstrate that their training offerings using CA-TREC funds align with the DOE’s Energy Skilled categories and offerings. Skills include:
· Electrification
· Home energy efficiency
· Contractor workforce expansion
· Pre-apprenticeship and apprenticeship pathways
Learn more about DOE’s Energy Skilled Recognition Program at https://bsesc.energy.gov/recognition.
30. [bookmark: _Toc214621143][bookmark: _Toc214635362][bookmark: _Toc214635506]Is EPA 608 Technician Certification eligible for CA-TREC grant funding? 
A: The CEC cannot determine project eligibility without knowing all the details of the proposed project. In general, if the proposed project meets the requirements in the solicitation manual including that the curriculum is tied to residential energy efficiency and/or electrification and meets the requirements of the solicitation, it may be eligible for funding under this program.
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